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between thirty and fifty thousand native people. So many were
exported to New England that most colonies there tried to ban or
restrict the trade—the southern Indians were regarded as troublemak-
ers. To be sure, Indians were not entirely hapless victims. Most slaves
were prisoners of war, seized in intertribal conflicts and sold by
enemy Indian groups to the English in exchange for guns, pots, and

axes. Nonetheless, the simple existence of the Indian slave trade—
thousands of native men and women working in bondage for
Buropeans—was a testament to Indians’ catastrophic loss of power

and status,
What happened? Europeans won military victories in New Bng-

land, historians say, partly because they were divided among them-
selves, Indians were unwilling, too, to match the English tactic of

massacring whole villages. But another, bigger part of the reason for

the foreigners” triumph was that by the 1670s the newcomers outnum:
bered the natives. Groups like the Narragansett, which had been

spared by the epidemic of 1616, were crushed by a smallpox epidemic

in 1633. A third to half of the remaining Indians in New England died.
The People of the First Light could avoid or adapt to European tech-

nology but not European disease. Their societies were destroyed by

weapons their opponents could not control and did not even know
they had. .
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“LIKE A CLUB RIGHT BETWEEN THE BYES’

- Inthe early 1960s, Henry F. Dobyns, a young anthropologist working
“on a rural-aid project in Peru, dispatched assistants to storehouses of
-ald records throughout the country. Dobyns himself traveled to the
‘central cathedral in Lima. Entering the nave, visitors passed by a
~chapel on the right-hand side that contained the mummified body of
- Francisco Pizarro, the romantic, thuggish Spaniard who conquered
‘Peru in the sixteenth century. Or, rather, they passed by a chapel that

was thought to contain the conqueror’s mummified body; the actual
temains turned up years later, stashed inside two metal boxes
beneath the main altar. Dobyns was not visiting the cathedral as a

- sightseer. Instead, he descended into the structure’s basement—cold,

dank, poorly lighted—to inspect birth and death registers kept there, -
Dobyns belonged to a research team led by his doctoral advisor,

"Allan R. Holmberg of Cornell, the Holmberg after whom I have

unkindly named Holmberg’s Mistake. Holmberg had persuaded Cor-
nell to let him lease an old colonial estate in rural Peru (the Carnegie
Corporation, a charitable foundation despite its name, provided the
funds). The estate included an entire village, whose inhabitants, most
of them Indian, were its sharecroppers. “It was really a form of serf:
dom,” Dobyns told me in a long conversation before his death in'2009.
“The villagers were just heartbreakingly poor.” Holmberg planned to
test strategies for raising their incomes. Because land tenure was a
contentious issue in Peru, he had asked Dobyns to finalize the lease
and learn more about the estate’s history. With his adjutants, Dobyns
visited a dozen archives, including those in the cathedral.
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Dobyns had been dipping his toe into archival research for more
than a decade, with results he found intriguing. His first foray into the
past occurred in 1953, while he was visiting his parents in Phoenix, Ari-
zona, during a school break. A friend, Paul H. Ezell, asked him for
some help with his doctoral thesis. The thesis concerned the adoption
of Spanish culture by the Pima Indians, who occupy a 372,000-acre
reservation south of Phoenix. Many of the region’s colonial-era
records survived in the Mexican town of Altar, in the border state of
Sonora. Ezell wanted to examine those records, and asked Dobyns to
come along. One weekend the two men drove from Phoenix to
Nogales, on the border. From Nogales, they went south, west, and up
into the highlands, often on dirt roads, to Altar.

Then a huddle of small houses surrounding a dozen little stores,
Altar was, Dobyns said, “the end of the earth.” Local women still cov-
ered their heads with shawls. Gringo visitors, few in number, tended
to be prospectors chasing rumors of lost gold mines in the mountains.

After surprising the parish priest by their interest in his records,
the two young men brought out their principal research tool: a Con-
tura portable copier, an ancestor to the Xerox photocopier that
required freshly stirred chemicals for each use. The machine strained

the technological infrastructure of Altar, which had electricity for

only six hours a day. Under flickering light, the two men pored
through centuries-old ledgers, the pages beautifully preserved by the
dry desert air. Dobyns was struck by the disparity between the large
number of burials recorded at the parish and the far smaller number
of baptisms. Almost all the deaths were from diseases brought by
Buropeans. The Spaniards arrived and then Indians died—in huge
numbers, at incredible rates. It hit him, Dobyns told me, “like a club
right between the eyes.”

At first he did nothing about his observation. Historical demogra-
phy was not supposed to be his field. Six years later, in 1959, he sur-
veyed more archives in Hermosilla and found the same disparity, By
this point he had almost finished his doctorate at Cornell and had been
selected for Holmberg's project. The choice was almost haphazard:
Dobyns had never been to Peru.

Peru, Dobyns learned, was one of the world’s cultural wellsprings,
a place as important to the human saga as the Fertile Crescent. Yet the
area’s significance had been scarcely appreciated outside the Andes,
partly because the Spaniards so thoroughly ravaged Inka culture, and
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partly because the Inka themselves, wanting to puff up their own
importance, had actively concealed the glories of the cultures before
them. Incredibly, the first full history of the fall of the Inka empire did
not appear until more than three hundred years after the events it
chronicled: William H. Prescott’s History of the Conguest of Peru, pub-
lished in 1847. Prescott’s thunderous cadences remain a pleasure to
read, despite the author’s firmly stated belief, typical for his time, in the
moral inferiority of the natives. But the book had no successor. More
thana centurylater, when Dobyns went to Iima, Prescott’s was still the
only complete account. (A fine history, John Hemming’s Conquest of the
Incas, appeared in 1970. But it, too, has had no successor, despite a
wealth of new information.) “The Inka were largely ignored because
the entire continent of South America was largely ignored,” Patricia
Lyon, ananthropologist at the Institute for Andean Studies, in Berkeley,
California, explained to me. Until the end of colonialism, she sug-
gested, researchers tended to work in their own countries’ possessions.
“The British were in Africa, along with the Germans and French. The
Dutch were in Asia, and nobody was in South America,” because most
of its nations were independent. The few researchers who did examine
Andean societies were often sidetracked into ideological warfare. The
Inka practiced a form of central planning, which led scholarsinto a stet-
ile Cold War squabble about whether they were actually socialists avant
la lettre in a communal Utopia or a dire precursor to Stalinist Russia.
Given the lack of previous investigation, it may have been
inevitable that when Dobyns traced births and deaths in Lima he
would be staking out new ground. He collected every book on Peru-
vian demography he could find. And he dipped into his own money to
pay Cornell project workers to explore the cathedral archives and the
national archives of Peru and the municipal archives of Lima. Slowly
tallying mortality and natality figures, Dobyns continued to be
impressed by what he found. Like any scholar, he eventually wrote an
article about what he had learned. But by the time his article came
out, in 1963, he had realized that his findings applied far beyond Peru.
The Inka and the Wampanoag were as different as Turks and
Swedes. But Dobyns discovered, in effect, that their separate battles
with Spain and England followed a similar biocultural template, one
that explained the otherwise perplexing fact that every Indian culture,
large or small, eventually succumbed to Burope. (Shouldn’t there have
been some exceptions?) And then, reasoning backward in time from this
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master narrative, he proposed a new way to think about Native Ameri-
can societies, one that transformed not only our understanding of life
before Columbus arrived, but cur picture of the continents themselves.

TAWANTINSUYU

In 1401 the Inka ruled the greatest empire on earth. Bigger than Ming
Dynasty China, bigger than Ivan the Great’s expanding Russia, bigger
than Songhay in the Sahel or powerful Great Zimbabwe in the West
Africa tablelands, bigger than the cresting Ottoman Empire, bigger
than the Triple Alliance (as the Aztec empire is more precisely
known), bigger by far than any European state, the Inka dominion
extended over a staggering thirty-two degrees of latitude—as if a sin-
gle power held sway from St. Petersburg to Cairo. The empire
encompassed every imaginable type of terrain, from the rainforest of
upper Amazonia to the deserts of the Peruvian coast and the twenty-
thousand-foot peaks of the Andes between. “If imperial potential is
judged in terms of environmental adaptability,” wrote the Oxford
historian Felipe Fernandez-Armesto, “the Inka were the most impres-
sive empire builders of their day.”

The Inka goal was to knit the scores of different groups in western
South America—some as rich as the Inka themselves, some poor and
disorganized, all speaking different languages—into a single bureau-
cratic framework under the direct rule of the emperor. The unity was
not merely political: the Inka wanted to meld together the area’s reli-
gion, economics, and arts. Their methods were audacious, brutal, and
efficient: they removed entire populations from their homelands;
shuttled them around the biggest road system on the planet, a mesh
of stone-paved thoroughfares totaling as much as 25,000 miles; and
forced them to work with other groups, using only Runa Sumi, the
Inka language, on massive, faraway state farms and construction proj-
ects.* To monitor this cyclopean enterprise, the Inka developed a
form of writing unlike any other, sequences of knots on strings that

*Runa Simi (Quechua, to the Spanish) is the language of all Inka names, inchud-
ing “Inka.” I use the standard Runa Simi romanization, which means that I do not
use the Spanish “Inca.”
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formed a binary code reminiscent of today’s computer languages (see
Appendix B, “Talking Knots”). So successful were the Inka at remold-
ing their domain, according to the late John H. Rowe, an eminent
archaeologist at the University of California at Berkeley, that Andean
history “begins, not with the Wars of [South American] Indepen-
dence or with the Spanish Conquest, but with the organizing genius
of {empire founder] Pachakuti in the fifteenth century.”
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Highland Peru is as extraordinary as the Inka themselves, It is the
only place on earth, the Cornell anthropologist John Murra wrote,
“where millions [of people] insist, against all apparent logic, on living
at 10,000 oOr even 14,000 feet above sea level. Nowhere else have people
lived for so many thousands of years in such visibly vulnerable cir-
cumstances.” And nowhere else have people living at such heights—in
places where most crops womn't grow, earthquakes and landslides are
frequent, and extremes of weather are the norm—repeatedly created
technically advanced, long-lasting civilizations. The Inka homeland,
uniquely high, was also uniquely steep, with slopes of more than
sixty-five degrees from the horizontal. (The steepest street in San
Francisco, famed for its nearly undrivable hills, is thirty-one-and-a-half
degrees.) And it was uniquely narrow; the distance from the Pacific
shore to the mountainitops is in most places less than seventy-five

Highland Peru, captured in this image of the Inka ruin Wifiay Wayna
by the indigenous Andean photographer Martin Chambi (1861-1973), is
the only place on earth where people living at such inhospirable alti-
tudes repeatedly created materially sophisticated societies.
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miles and in many less than fifty. Ecologists postulate that the first
large-scale human societies tended to arise where, as Jared Diamond
of the University of California at Los Angeles put it, geography pro-
vided “a wide range of altitudes and topographies within a short dis-

tance.” One such place is the Fertile Crescent, where the mountains of
western Iran and the Dead Sea, the lowest place on earth, bracket the

Tigris and Euphrates river systems. Another is Peru. In the short tra-

verse from mountain to ocean, travelers pass through twenty of the
world’s thirty-four principal types of environment.

To survive in this steep, narrow hodgepodge of ecosystems,
Andean communities usually sent out representatives and colories to
live up- or downslope in places with resources unavailable at home.
Fish and shellfish from the ocean; beans, squash, and cotton from
coastal river valleys; maize, potatoes, and the Andean grain quinoa
from the foothills; llamas and alpacas for wool and meat in the
heights—each area had something to contribute. Villagers in the satel-
lite sertlements exchanged products with the center, sending beans
uphill and obtaining llama jerky in retusn, ali the while retaining their
citizenship in a homeland they rarely saw. Combining the fruits of
many ecosystems, Andean clltures both enjoyed a better life than
they could have wrested from any single place and spread out the risk
from the area’s frequent natural catastrophes. Murra invented 2 name
for this mode of existence: “vertical archipelagoes.”

Verticality helped Andean cultures survive but also pushed them
to stay small. Because the mountains impeded north-south cornmuni-
cation, it was much easier to coordinate the flow of goods and ser-

~ vices east to west. As a result the region for most of its history was a

jumble of small- and medium-scale cultures, isolated from all but
their neighbors. Three times, though, cultures rose to dominate the
Andes, uniting previously separate groups under a common banner.
The first period of hegemony was that of Chavin, which from about
700 B.C. to the dawn of the Christian era controlled the central coast of
Peru and the adjacent mountains. The next, beginning after Chavin’s
decline, was the time of two great powers: the technologically expert
empire of Wari, which held sway over the coastline previously under
Chavin; and Tiwanaku, centered on Lake 'Titicaca, the great alpine
lake on the Peru-Bolivia border. (I briefly discussed War and
Tiwanaku earlier, and will return to them—and to the rest of the
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immense pre-Inka tradition in chapters 6 and 7.) After Wari and
Tiwanaku collapsed, at the end of the first millennium, the Andes split
into sociopolitical fragments and with one major exception remained
that way for more than three centuries, Then came the Inka.

The Inka empire, the greatest state ever seen in the Andes, was
also the shortest lived. It began in the fifteenth century and lasted
bately a hundred yearts before being smashed by Spain.

As conquerors, the Inka were unlikely. Even in 1350 they were still
an unimportant part of the political scene in the central Andes, and
newcomers at that. In one of the oral tales recorded by the Spanish
Jesuit Bernabé Cobo, the Inka originated with a family of four broth-
ers and four sisters who left Lake Titicaca for reasons unknown and
wandered until they came upon what would become the future Inka
capital, Qosqo (Cusco, in Spanish). Cobo, who sighed over the
“extreme ignorance and barbarity” of the Indians, dismissed such sto-
ries as “Tudicrous.” Nonetheless, archaeological investigation has gen-
erally borne them out: the Inka seem indeed to have migrated to
Qosqo from somewhere else, perhaps Lake Titicaca, around 1200 a.D.

The colonial account of Inka history closest to indigenous sources
isby Juan de Betanzos, a Spanish commoner who rose to marry an Inka
princess and become the most prominent translator for the colonial
governiment. Based on interviews with his in-laws, Betanzos estimated
that when the Inka showed up in the Qosqo region “more than two
hundred” small groups were already there. Qosqo itself, where they
settled, was a hamlet “of about thirty small, humble straw houses.”

Archacological evidence suggests that the Inka gradually became
more powerful. The apparent turning point in their fortunes occurred
when they somehow made enemies of another group, the Chanka,
who eventually attacked them, ‘This unremarkable provincial squab-
ble had momentous consequences.

According to a widely quoted chronology by the sixteenth-century
deric Miguel Cabello Balboa, the Chanka offensive took place in 1438,
The Inka leader at that time was Wiraqocha Inka.* “A valiant prince,”

*The Inka sovereign had the title of “Inka”—he was the Inka—but he could also
include “Inka” in his name. in addition, Inka elites changed their names as they

went through their lives. Each Inka was thus known by several names, any of which
might include “Inka.” .
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according to Cobo, Wiragocha Inka had a “warlike” nature even as a
young man and vowed that after taking the throne “he would conquer
half the world.” Perhaps so, but he fled the Chanka attack with three
of his four sons, including his designated successor, Inka Urqon. A
younger son, Inka Cusi Yupanki, refused to run. Instead he fought the
Chanka with such bravery that (according to the legend) the very
stones rose up to join the fray. Inka Yupanki won the battle, capturing
many Chanka leaders. Later he skinned them in celebration—Pizarro
saw the trophies on display. But first Inka Yupanki presented the cap-
tives to his father, so that Wiraqocha Inka could perform the victory
ritual of wiping his feet on their bodies.

Fearing that Inka Yupanki was becoming too big for his britches,
Wiragocha Inka chose that moment to remind his younger son of his
subordinate status. The foot-wiping honor, he proclaimed, actually
belonged to the next Inka: Inka Urqon. “To this,” Betanzos wrote,
“Inka Yupanki answered that he was begging his father to tread on the
prisoners, that he had not won the victory so that such women as Inka
Urqon and the rest of his brothers could step on them.” A heated argu-
ment led to a standoff. In a Shakespearian move, Wiraqocha Inka
decided to settle the issue by murdering his inconvenient younger son.
(It was “a crazy impulse,” one of Wiraqocha Inka’s generals later
explained.) Inka Yupanki was tipped off and the scheme failed. The
humiliated Wiragocha Inka went into exile while Inka Yupanki
returned in triumph to Qosqo, renamed himself Pachakuti {“World-
shaker”), and proclaimed that the ruling Inka families were descended
from the sun. Then he went about conquering everything in sight,

Hey, wait a minute! the reader may be saying. This family story
makes such terrific melodrama that it seems reasonable to wonder
whether it actually happened. After all, every known written account
of the Inka was set down after the conquest, a century or more after
Pachakuti’s rise. And these differ from each other, sometimes dramat-
ically, reflecting the authors’ biases and ignorance, and their infor-
mants” manipulation of history to cast a flattering light on their
family lines. For these reasons, some scholars dismiss the chronicles
entirely. Others note that both the Inka and the Spaniards had long
traditions of record-keeping. By and large the chroniclers seem to
have been conscious of their roles as witnesses and tried to live up to
them. Their versions of events broadly agree with each other, As a
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result, most scholars judiciously use the colonial accounts, as I try to
do here.

After taking the reins of state, Pachakuti spent the next twenty-five
years expanding the empire from central highland Peru to Lake Titi-
caca and beyond. His methods were subtler and more economical
with direct force than one might expect, as exemplified by the slow
takeover of the coastal valley of Chincha. In about 1450 Pachakuti dis-
patched an army to Chincha under Qhapaq Yupanki (Ka-pok Yu-pan-
ki, meaning roughly “Munificent Honored One™), a kind of adopted
brother. Marching into the valley with thousands of troops, Qhapaq
Yupanki informed the fearful local gentry that he wanted nothing
from Chincha whatsoever. “He said that he was the son of the Sun,”
according to the report of two Spanish priests who investigated the
valley’s history in the 1550s. “And that he had come for their good and
for everyone’s and that he did not want their silver nor their gold nor
their daughters.” Far from taking the land by force, in fact, the Inka
general would give them “all that he was carrying.” And he practically
buried the Chincha leadership under piles of valuables. In return for
his generosity, the general asked only for a little appreciation, prefer-
ably in the form of a large house from which the Inka could operate,
and a staff of servants to cook, clean, and make the things needed by
the outpost. And when Qhapaq Yupanki left, he asked Chincha to
keep expressing its gratitude by sending craftspeople and goods to
Qosqo. .

A decade later Pachakuti sent out another army to the valley, this
one led by his son and heir, Thupa Inka Yupanki (“Royal Honored
Inka”). Thupa Inka closeted himself with the local leadership and laid
out many inspired ideas for the valley’s betterment, all of which were
gratefully endorsed. Following the Inka template, the local leaders
drafted the entire populace into service, dividing households by sex
and age into cohorts, each with its own leader who reported to the
leader of the next larger group. “Everything was in order for the peo-
ple to know who was in control,” the Spanish priests wrote. Thupa
Inka delegated tasks to the mobilized population: hewing roads to
link Chincha to other areas controlled by the Inka, building a new
palace for the Inka, and tending the fields set aside for the Inka. Thupa
Inka apparently left the area in charge of his brother, who continued
managing its gratitude. . .
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The next visit came from Pachakuti’s grandson, probably in the
1490s. With him came escalating demands for land and service—the
veneer of reciprocity was fading, By that point the Chincha had little
alternative but to submit. They were surrounded by Inka satrapies;
their economy was enmeshed with the imperial machinery; they had
hundreds or thousands of people doing the empire’s bidding. The
Chincha elite, afraid to take on the Inka army, always chose compli-
ance over valor, and were rewarded with plum positions in the colo-
nial government. But their domain had ceased to exist as an
independent entity. |

In 1976 Edward N. Luttwak, now at the Center for Strategic and
International Studies, in Washington, D.C., published a short,
provocative book about imperial Rome that distinguished between
territorial and hegemonic empires. Territorial empires directly occupy
territories with E&.H armies, throw out the old rulers, and annex the
land. In hegemonic empires, the internal affairs of conquered areas
remain in the hands of their original rulers, who become vassals, Ter-
ritorial empires are tightly controlled but costly to maintain; hege-
monic etmpires are inexpensive to maintain, because the original local
rulers incur the costs of administration, but the loose tie between
master and vassal encourages rebellion. Every conquest-minded state
is a mixture of both, but all Native American empires leaned toward
the hegemonic. Without horses, Indian soldiers unavoidably traveled
slower than European or Asian soldiers. If brigades were tied up as
occupiers, they could not be reassigned quickly. As a result, the Inka
were almost forced to co-opt local rulers instead of displacing them,
They did so with a vengeance.

Pachakuti gave command of the military to his son Thupa Inka in
1463 and turned his attention to totally rebuilding Qosqo in imperial
style, in the process becoming one of history’s great urban planners.
Although he drew wn Andean aesthetic traditions, Pachakuti put his
own stamp on Inka art and architecture. Whereas the buildings of
Sumer and Assyria were covered with brilliant mosaics and splendid
pictorial murals, ﬂrn_ Inka style was severe, abstract, stripped down to
geometric moH.Emlm_HmH&um@ contemparary, in fact. (According to the
Peruvian critic César Paternosto, such major twentieth-century
painters as Josef Ewﬁ.,m“ Barnett Newman, and Mark Rothko were
inspired by Inka art.
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Inka masonry amazed the conquistadors, who could not understand
how they put together such enormous stones without mortar or draft
animals. And it was astonishingly durable—the US. explorer Hiram
Bingham photographed the citadel of Machu Pigchu in 1013, and found
it in near-perfect condition despite four centuries of neglect,

At the heart of the new Qosqo was the plaza of Awkaypata, 625
feet by 550 feet, carpeted almost in its entirety with white sand carried
in from the Pacific and raked daily by the city’s army of workers.
Monumental villas and temples surrounded the space on three sides,
their walls made from immense blocks of stone so precisely cut and fit
that Pizarro’s younger cousin Pedro, who accompanied the con-
queror as a page, reported “that the point of a pin could not have been
inserted in one of the joints.” Across their facades ran enormous
plates of polished gold. When the alpine sun filled Awkaypata, with
its boldly delineated horizontal plain of white sand and sloping sheets
of gold, the space became an amphitheater for the exaltation of light.

In Pachakuti’s grand design, Awkaypata was the center of the
empire—and the cosmos. From the great plaza radiated four highways
that demarcated the four asymmetrical sectors into which he divided
the empire, Tawantinsuyu, “Land of the Four Quarters.” To the Inka,
the quarters echoed the heavenly order. The Milky Way, a vast celestial
river in Andean cosmology, crosses the Peruvian sky at an angle of
about twenty-eight degrees to the earth’s orbit. For six months the
strearn of stars slants across the sky from, so to speak, northeast to
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southwest; the other six months it slants from southeast to northwest,
The wansition roughly coincides with the transition between dry and
wet seasons—the time when the Mitky Way releases life-giving water
to Pacha Mama, Mother Earth—and divides the heavens into four quar-
ters. Awkaypata, reflecting this pattern, was the axis of the universe.
Not only that, Qosqo was the center of a second spiritual pattern,
Radiating out from Awkaypata was a drunken spiderweb of forty-one
crooked, spiritually powerful lines, known as zeg’e, that linked holy
features of the landscape: springs, tombs, caves, shrines, fields, stones.
About four hundred of these wak’a (shrines, more or less) existed
around Qosqo—the landscape around the capital was charged with
telluric power. (The zeq’e also played a role in the Inka calendar, which
apparently consisted of forty-one eight-day weeks.) So complexly
interrelated was the network of wak’a and zeq’e, Columbia University
archaeologist Terence [ Altroy has written, “that many otherwise
diligent scholars have been reduced to scratching ‘their heads and
trusting someone else’s judgement.” Each wak’a had its own mean-

ing, relative status, social affiliation, and set of ceremonial uses. One

big stone outside town was believed to be the petrified body of one of
the original Inka brothers; Inka armies often carried it with them,
dressed in fine togs, as a kind of good-luck talisman. To keep track of
the florid abundance of shrines and lines, Cobo observed, the empire
“had more than a thousand men in the city of Qosqo who did nothing
but remember these things.” .

Not only did Pachakuti reconfigure the capital, he laid out the
institutions that characterized Tawantinsuyu itself. For centuries, vil-
lagers had spent part of their ime working in teams on community

Around the Inka capital of
Qosqo (modern Cusco) were
more than four hundred
wak’a, places in the landscape
charged with spiritual power,
Many of these were stones,
some carved in elaborate
representations, perhaps of
the areas they influenced.
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projects. Alternately bullying and cajoling, Pachakuti expanded the
service obligation unrecognizably, In Tawantinsuyu, he decreed, all
land and property belonged to the state (indeed, to the Inka himself),
Peasants thus had to work periodically for the empire as farmers,

herders, weavers, masons, artisans, miners, or soldiers. Often Crews .

spent months away from home. While they were on the road, the

state fed, clothed, and housed them—all from goods supplied by
other work crews. Conscripts built dams, terraces, and irrigation

canals; they grew crops on state land and raised herds on state pas-
tures and made pots in state factories and stocked hundreds of state
warchouses; they paved the highways and supplied the runners and
llamas carrying messages and goods along them. UHES&&Q extend-
ing Andean verticality, the imperium shuttled people and materiel in
and out of every Andean crevice.

Not the least surprising feature of this economic system was that
it functioned without money. True, the lack of currency did not sur-
prise the Spanish invaders—much of Europe did without money until
the eighteenth century. But the Inka did not even have markets. Econ-
omists would predict that this nonmarket economy—vertical social-
ism, it has been called—should produce gross inefficiencies. These
surely occurred, but the errors were of surplus, not want. The Span-
ish invaders were stunned to find warehouses overflowing with
untouched cloth and supplies. But to the Inka the brimming coffers
signified prestige and plenty; it was all part of the plan. Most impor-
tant, Tawantinsuyu “managed to eradicate hunger,” the Peruvian
novelist Mario Vargas Llosa noted. Though no fan of the Inka, he con-
ceded that “only a very small number of empires throughout the
whole world have succeeded in achieving this feat.”

When Tawantinsuyu swallowed a new area, the Inka forcibly
imported settlers from other, faraway areas, often in large numbers,
and gave them land. The hewcomers were encouraged to keep their
own dress and customs rather than integrate into the host population,
To communicate, both groups were forced to use Ruma Suni, the lan-
guage of their conquerors. In the short run this practice created polit-
ical tensions that the Inka manipulated to control both groups. In the
long term it would have (if successful) eroded the distinctions among
cultures and forged a homogeneous new nation in the imprint of
Tawantinsuyu. Five centuries later the wholesale reshuffling of popu-
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lations became an infamous trademark of Stalin and Mao. But the
scale on which the Inka moved the pieces around the ethnic checker-
board would have excited their admiration. Incredibly, foreigners
came to outnumber natives in many places. It is possible that ethnic
clashes would eventually have caused Tawantinsuyu to implode,
Yugoslavia-style. But if Pizarro had not interrupted, the Inka might
have created a monolithic culture as enduring as China.

THE GILDED LITTER OF THE INKA

How did Pizarro do it? Sooner or later, everyone who studies the
Inka confronts this question. Henry Dobyns wondered about it, too.

The empire was as populous, rich, and well organized as any in his-

tory. But no other fell before such a small force: Pizarro had only 168
men and 62 horses. Researchers have often wondered whether the
Inka collapse betokens a major historical lesson. The answer is yes,
but the lesson was not grasped until recently.

The basic history of the empire was known well enough by the
time Dobyns began reading the old colonial accounts. According to
Cabello Balboa’s chronology; Pachakuti died peacefully in 1471, His
son Thupa Inka, long the military commander, now took the imperial
“crown”-—a multicolored braid, twisted around the skull like a head-
band, from which hung a red tasseled fringe that fell across the
forehead. Carried on a golden Htter—the Inka did not walk in pub-
lic—Thupa Inka appeared with such majesty, according to the voy-
ager Pedro Sarmiento de Gamboa, that “people left the roads along
which he had to pass and, ascending the hills on either side, wor-
shipped and adored” him by “pulling out their eyebrows and eye-
lashes.” Minions collected and stored every object he touched, food
waste included, to ensure that no lesser persons could profane these
objects with their touch. The ground was too dirty to receive the
Inka’s saliva so he always spat into the hand of a courtier. The courtier
wiped the spittle with a special cloth and stored it for safekeeping.
Once a year everything touched by the Inka—clothing, garbage, bed-
ding, saliva—was ceremonially burned.

Thupa Inka inaugurated the Inka custom of martying his sister, In
fact, "Thupa Inka may have married two of his sisters. The practice was
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Tawantinsuyu is known to have risen and fallen with breathtaking
rapidity, but the exact chronology of its trajectory is disputed. Most
researchers regard the account of Miguel Cabello Balboa as approxi-
mately correct. It is the source for this map, though the reader is cay-
tioned against regarding it as either exact or universally accepted.
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genetically unsound but logically consistent. Only close relatives of
the Inka were seen as of sufficient purity to produce his heir. As Inkas
grew in grandeur, more purity was required. Finally only a sister
would do. The Inka’s sister-wives accompanied him on military for-
ays, along with a few hundred or thousand of his subordinate wives.
The massive scale of these domestic arrangements seems not to have
impeded his imperial progress. By his death in 1493, Thupa Inka had
sent his armies deep into Ecuador and Chile, doubling the size of
Tawantinsuyu again. In terms of area conquered during his lifetime,
he was in the league of Alexander the Great and Genghis Khan.
Thupa Inka’s death set off a fight for the royal fringe. Tawan-
tinsuyu did not have strict succession rules. Instead the Inka selected
the son he thought most qualified. Thupa Inka had more than sixty
sons from all of his wives, according to Sarmiento de Gamboa, so he

- had a lot of choice. Alas, Thupa Inka apparently selected one son but

then changed his mind on his deathbed and selected another. Factions
formed around each son, leading to a melée, The first son was ban-
ished or killed and the second took the name Wayna Qhapaq (Why-na
Ka-pok) and became ‘the Inka. Because the new Inka was still a
teenager (his name means “Munificent Youth”), two of his uncles
served as regents. One uncle tried to usurp power but was killed by the
other. Eventually the Inka grew old enough to take the reins. Among
his first official acts was killing two of his own brothers to avoid future
family problems. Then he, like his father, married his sister.

Wayna Qhapaq was not a military adventurer like his father. He ini-
tially seems to have viewed his role mainly as one of consolidation,
rather than conquest, perhaps because Tawantinsuyu was approach-
ing the geographic limits of governability—communication down the
long north-south spine of the empire was stretched to the limit. Much
of Wayna Qhapaq’s time was devoted to organizing the empire’s pub-
lic works projects. Often these were more political than practical.
Because the Inka believed that idleness fomented rebellion, the Spanish
traveler Pedro Cieza de Leon reported, he ordered unemployed work
brigades “to move a mountain from one spot to another” for no practi-
cal purpose. Cieza de Ledn once came upon three different highways
running between the same two towns, each built by a different Inka.

Consolidation was completed in about 1520. Wayna Qhapagq then
marched to Ecuador at the head of an army, intending to expand the
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In 1615, the Inka writer Felipe Guamén Poma de Ayala presented his
life’s work, a massive history of Inka society with four hundred draw-
ings, to King Philip IT of Spain, hoping that the king would use it to
fearn more about his new subjects. Whether Philip ever saw the man-
uscript is unknowr, but Poma de Ayala’s work—one of the few non-
European accounts of Inka life—is now a fundamental scholarly
source. Although the portraits here are not taken from life, they hint
at how the Inka viewed and remembered their leaders.

empire to the north. It was a journey of return: he had been born in
southern Ecuador during one of his father’s campaigns. He himself
brought with him one of his teenage sons, Atawallpa. When Wayna
Qhapaq came to his birthplace, the city now called Cuenca, Cobo
reported, “he commanded that a magnificent palace be constructed
for himself.” Wayna Qhapagq liked his new quarters so much that he

In the Land of Four Quarters 89

stayed on while Atawallpa and his generals went out to subjugate a
few more provinces.

They did not meet with success. The peoples of the wet equatorial
forests did not belong to the Andean culture system and were not
interested in joining. They fought ferociously. Caught by an ambush,
Atawallpa was forced to retreat. Enraged by this failure, Cobo wrote,
Wayna Qhapaq “prepared himself as quickly as possible to go in per-
son and avenge this disgrace.” He left his pleasure palace and publicly
berated Atawallpa at the front. In a renewed offensive, the army
advanced under the Inka’s personal command. Bearing clubs, spears,
bows, lances, slings, and copper axes, brilliant in cloaks of feathers and
silver breastplates, their faces painted in terrifying designs, the Inka
army plunged into the forests of the northern coast. They sang and
shouted in unison as they fought. The battle seesawed until a sudden
counterattack knocked Wayna Qhapaq out of his litter—a humilia-
tion. Nearly captured by his foes, he was forced to walk like a plebe
back to his new palace. The Inka army regrouped and returned. After
prolonged strugglé it subjugated its foes.

Finding the warm Ecuadorian climate more to his liking than that
of chilly Qosqo, Wayna Qhapaq delayed his triumphal return for six
years. Wearing soft, loose clothing of vampire-bat wool, he swanned
around his palaces with a bowl of palm wine or chicha, a sweet,
muddy, beer-like drink usually made from crushed maize. “When his
captains and chief Indians asked him how, though drinking so much,
he never got intoxicated,” reported Pizarro’s younger cousin and
page, Pedro, “théy say that he replied that he drank for the poor, of
whom he supported many.”

In 1525 Wayna Qhapaq suddenly got sick and expired in his Ecuado-
rian retreat. Once again the succession was contested and bloody.
Details are murky, but on his deathbed the Inka seems to have passed
over Atawallpa, who had not distinguished himself, and designated as
his heir a son named Ninan K'uychi. Unluckily, Ninan K uychi died of
the same illness right before Wayna Qhapaq. Next in line was a nine-
teen-year-old son who had stayed behind in Qosqo. As was customary,
high priests subjected this choice to a divination. They learned that
this son would be dreadfully unlucky. The priest who reported this
unhappy result to Wayna Qhapaq found him dead. In consequence,
the court nobles were left to choose the emperor. They settled on the
teenager who had been the Inka’s final choice.
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The teenager’s principal qualification for the post was that his:
mother was Wayna Qhapagq’s sister. Nonetheless, he had no doubts

about crowning himself immediately—he didn’t even wait to find out

if Wayna Qhapaq had left any instructions or last wishes. The new
Inka took the name Washkar Inka (“Golden Chain Inka”). Atawallpa :
remained in Bcuador, ostensibly because he was unable to show his
face after being berated by his father, but presumably also because he °

knew that the life expectancy of Inka brothers tended to be short.

Meanwhile, Wayna Qhapaq’s mummified body was dressed in fine °

clothing and taken back to Qosqo on a gold litter bedecked with feath-
ers. Along the way, the dead emperor's executors, four high-ranking

nobles, schemed to depose and murder Washkar and install yet
another son in his place, Something aroused Washkar's suspicions as |

the party neared Qosqo—perhaps his discovery that Atawallpa had

stayed in Ecuador with most of the Inka army, perhaps a tipoff froma

loyal uncle whom the conspirators had approached. After staging a
grand funeral for his father, Washkar ordered the executors to meet
him one at a time, which provided the occasion to arrest them. Tor-
ture and execution followed. .

The plot circumvented, Washkar went to work eliminating any
remaining objections to his accession. Because Wayna Qhapaq had
not actually married Washkar’s mother-the union was properly.
incestuous but not properiy legitimate-—the new Inka demanded that
his mother participate ex post facto in a wedding ceremony with his
father’s mummy. Even for the Andes this was an unusual step.
Washkar further solidified his credentials as riler by marrying his sis-
ter. According to the unsympathetic account of Cabello Balboa,
Washkar’s mother, who was apparently willing to marry her dead
brother, objected to her son's plan to marry her daughter. The cere-
mony took place only after “much begging and supplication.”

Civil war was probably unavoidable. Egged on by scheming
courtiers and generals, relations between Atawallpa and Washkar -
spent several years swinging through the emotional valence from
concealed suspicion to overt hostility. Washkar, in Qosqo, had the
machinery of the state at his disposal; in addition, his claim to the
fringe was generally accepted. Atawallpa, in Bcuador, had a war-
tested army and the best generals but a weaker claim to the throne
(his mother was merely his father’s cousin, not his sister). The war
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lasted for more than three years, seesawed across the Andes, and was
spectacularly brutal. Washkar’s forces seized the initial m%m.:ﬁmmn_
invading Ecuador and actually capturing Atawallpa, almost tearing off
one of his ears in the process. In a sequence reminiscent of Holly-
wood, one of Atawallpa’s wives supposedly smuggled a crowbar-like
tool into his improvised battlefield prison (his intoxicated guards per-
mitted a conjugal visit). Atawallpa dug his way out, escaped to
Ecuador, reassembled his army, and drove his foes south. On a plateau
near today’s Peru-Ecuador border the northern forces wwaoum:% _..wm
by Atawallpa shattered Washkar's army. A decade later O:.wmm de rm.os
saw the battleground and from the wreckage and unburied remains
thought the dead could have numbered sixteen thousand. The victors
captured and beheaded Washkar’s main general. Atawallpa Eonnﬁn.a
a bowl atop the skull, inserted a spout between the teeth, and used it
as a cup for his chicha. _

With the momentum of war turning against him, Washkar left
Qosqo o lead his own army. Atawallpa sent his forces ahead to meet
it. After a horrific battle (Cieza de Ledn estimated the dead at thirty-
five thousand), Washkar was captured in an ambush in the summer of
15332, Atawallpa’s generals took the Inka as a captive to Qosgo and exe-
cuted his wives, children, and relatives in front of him. Meanwhile,
Atawallpa’s triumphant cavalcade, perhaps as many as eighty thou-
sand strong, slowly promenaded to Qosqo. In October or November
1532, the victors stopped outside the small city of Cajamarca, &Emnm
they learned that pale, hairy people who sat on enormous animals
had landed on the coast.

No matter how many times what happened next has been
recounted, it has not lost its power to shock: how the curious
Atawallpa decided to wait for the strangers’ party to maﬁ“. how
Pizarro, for it was he, persuaded Atawallpa to visit the mwmam&m inthe
central square of Cajamarca, which was surrounded on three sides by
long, empty buildings (the town apparently had been evacuated m.o_..
the war); how on November 16, 1532, the emperor-to-be came to Caja-
marca in his gilded and feather-decked litter, preceded by a mnmm&.o.:
of liveried men who swept the ground and followed by five or six
thousand troops, almost afl of whom bore only oBmBmsﬂmr. wmnm&h-
type weapons; how Pizarro hid his horses and cannons just SEHE the
buildings lining the town square, where the 168 Spanish awaited the




02 NuMBERS FROM NOWHERE?

Inka with such fear, Pedro Pizarro noted, that many “made water

without knowing it out of sheer terror”; how a Spanish priest pre-
sented Atawallpa with a travel-stained Christian breviary, which the
Inka, to whom it literally meant nothing, impatiently threw aside,
providing the Spanish with a legal fig leaf for an attack (desecrating
Holy Writ); how the Spanish, firing cannons, wearing armor, and
mournted on horses, none of which the Indians had ever seen, sud-
denly charged into the square; how the Indians were so panicked by
the smoke and fire and steel and charging animals that in trying to flee
hundreds trampled each other to death (“they formed mounds and
suffocated one another,” one conquistador wrote); how the Spanish
took advantage of the soldiers” lack of weaponry to kill almost all the
rest; how the native troops who recovered from their initial surprise
desperately clustered around Atawallpa, supporting his litter with
their shoulders even after Spanish broadswords sliced off their hands:
how Pizarro personally dragged down the emperor-to-be and hustled
him through the heaps of bodies on the square to what would
become his prison. :

Pizarro exulted less in victory than one might imagine. A self:
made man, the illiterate, illegitimate, neglected son of an army cap-
tain, he ached with dreams of wealth and chivalric glory despite the
fortune he had already acquired in the Spanish colonies. After landing
in Peru he realized that his tiny force was walking into the maw of a
powerful empire. Even after his stunning triumph in Cajamarca he
remained torn between fear and ambition. For his part, Atawallpa
observed the power of Inka gold and silver to cloud European minds.*
Precious metals were not valuable in the same way in Tawantinsuyu,

because there was no currency. To the Inka ruler, the foreigners’ fasci-

nation with gold apparently represented his best chance to manipu-

*Because of their obsession with gold, the conquistadors are often dismissed as
“gold crazy.” In fact they were not so much gold crazy as status crazy. Like Hernan.
Cortés, who conquered Mexico, Pizarro was born inte the lower fringes of the
nobility and hoped by his exploits to earn titles, offices, and pensions from the Span-
ish crown. To obtain these royal favors, their expeditions had to bring sumething
back for the king. Given the difficulty and expense of transportation, precious met-
als—"nonperishable, divisible, and compact,” as historian Matthew Restall notes—
were almost the enly goods that they could plausibly ship to Europe. Inka gold and

silver thus represented to the Spaniards the intoxicating prospect of social better-
ment.
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late the situation to his advantage. He offered to fill a room twenty-
two feet by seventeen feet full of gold objects—and two equivalent
rooms with silver—in exchange for his freedom. Pizarro quickly
agreed to the plan.

Atawalipa, still in command of the empire, ordered his generals to
strip Qosqo of its silver and gold. Not having lived in the city since
childhood, he had little attachment to it. He also told his men to slay
Washkar, whom they still held captive; all of Washkar’s main support-
ers; and, while they were at it, all of Atawallpa’s surviving brothers.

- After his humiliating captivity ended, Atawallpa seems to have

believed, the ground would be clear for his rule,

Between December 13532 and May 1533, caravans of precious
objects—jewelry, fine sculptures, architectural ornamentation—
wended on llama-back to Cajamarca. As gold and silver slowly filled
the rooms, all of Tawantinsuyu seemed frozen. It was as if sormeone
had slipped into the Kremlin in rg5e and held Stalin at gunpaoine, leav-
ing the nation, accustomed to obeying a tyrant, utterly rudderless.
Meanwhile, the waiting Spanish, despite their unprecedented success,
grew increasingly fearful and suspicious. When Atawallpa fulfilled his
half of the bargain and the ransom was complete Pizarro melted
everything into ingots and shipped them to Spain. The conquistadors
did not follow through on their part of the deal. Rather than releasing
Atawallpa, they garroted him. Then they marched to Qosqo.

Almost at a stroke, just 168 men had dealt a devastating blow to the
greatest empire on earth. To be sure, their victory was nowhere near
complete: huge, bloody battles still lay ahead. Even after the conquis-
tadors seized Qosqo, the empire regrouped in the hinterlands, where
it fought off Spanish forces for another forty years. Yet the scale of
Pizarro’s triurnph at Cajamarca cannot be gainsaid. e had routed a
force fifty times larger than his own, won the greatest ransom ever
seen, and vanquished a cultural tradition that had lasted five millen-
nia—all without suffering a single casualty.

VIRGIN SOIL
I have just pulled a fast one. The Inka history above is as contempo-

rary scholars understand it. They disagree on which social factors to
emphasize and on how much weight to assign individual Spanish
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chronicles, but the outline seems not in serious dispute. The same
not true of my rendering of Pizarro’s conquest. I presented what i
more or less the account current when Dobyns arrived in Peru. Butin
his reading he discovered a hole in this version of events—a factor so
critical that it drastically changed Dobyns’s view of native America,
Why did the Inka lose? The usual answer is that Pizarro had two
advantages: steel (swords and armor, tifles and cannons) and horses
The Indians had no steel weapons and no animals to ride (llamas are
too small to carry grown men). They also lacked the wheel and the
arch, With such inferior technology, Tawantinsuyu had no chance.
“What could [the Inka] offer against this armory?” asked John Hem-

ming, the conquest historian. “They were still fighting in the bronze |
age.” The Inka kept fighting after Atawallpa’s death. But even though -

they outnumbered the Europeans by as much as a hundred to one,
they always lost. “No amount of heroism or discipline by an Inka
army,” Hemming wrote, “could match the military superiority of the
Spaniards.”

But just as guns did not determine the outcome of conflict in New
England, steel was not the decisive factor in Peru. True, anthropolo-
gists have long marveled that Andean societies did not make steel.
Iron is plentiful in the mountains, yet the Inka used metal for almost
nothing useful. In the late 1960s, Heather Lechtman, an archaeologist
at the MIT Center for Materials Research in Archaeology and Ethnol-
ogy, suggested to “an eminent scholar of Andean prehistory that we
take a serious and careful look at Andean metallurgy.” He responded,
“But there wasn’t any.” Lechtman went and looked anyway. She dis-
covered that Inka metallurgy was, in fact, as refined as European met-
allurgy, but that it had such different goals that academic experts had
not even recognized it.

According to Lechtman, Europeans sought to optimize metals’
“hardness, strength, toughness, and sharpness.” The Inka, by con-
trast, valued “plasticity, malleability, and toughness.” Europeans used
metal for tools. Andean societies primarily used it as a token of
wealth, power, and community affiliation. European metalworkers
tended to create metal objects by pouring molten alloys into shaped
molds. Such foundries were not unknown to the Inka, but Andean
societies vastly preferred to hammer metal into thin sheets, form the
sheets around molds, and solder the results. Thé results were remark-
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able by any standard—one delicate bust that Lechtman analyzed was
less than an inch tall but made of twenty-two separate gold plates
painstakingly joined. o

If a piece of jewelry or a building ornament was to ?..o&m:s its
owner's status, as the Inka desired, it needed to shine. Luminous moﬂ
and silver were thus preferable to dull iron. Because pure gold msn.g sil-
ver are too soft to hold their shape, Andean metalworkers mixed
them with other metals, usually copper. This strengthened the metal
but turned it an ugly pinkish-copper color. To create a lustrous gold
surface, Inka smiths heated the copper-gold alloy, which increases the
rate at which the copper atoms on the surface combine with oxygen
atoms in the air—it makes the metal corrode faster. Then they
pounded the hot metal with mallets, making the corrosion flake off
the outside. By repeating this process many times, nw_m% removed the
copper atoms from the surface of the metal, creating a veneer of
almost pure gold. Ultimately the Inka ended up with strong sheets of
metal that glittered in the sun.

Andean cultures did make tools, of course. But rather than mak-
ing them out of steel, they preferred fiber. 'The choice is less .oma than
it may seem. Mechanical engineering Qm@mdmm. on two main forces:
compression and tension. Both are employed in mnﬁowmmn technol-
ogy, but the former is more common—the archisa nmmmmhn. example of
compression. By contrast, tension was the Inka way. .Hmma.mm are held
together by tension,” Williarn Conklin, a research associate at .muo
Textile Museum in Washington, D.C,, told me. "And they exploited
that tension with amazing inventiveness and precision.” )

In the technosphere of the Andes, Lechtman explained, —.u..wcmmm
solved basic engineering problems through the manipulation of

fibers,” not by creating and joining hard wooden or metal objects. To-

make boats, Andean cultures wove together reeds rather than cutting
up trees into planks and nailing them together. Although smaller than
big Buropean ships, these vessels were not puddle-muddlers; .mE.w-
peans first encountered Tawantinsuyu in the form of an Inka ship sail-
ing near the equator, three hundred miles from its home port, Esmm,_. a
load of fine cotton sails. fthad a crew of twenty and was m.mm:% the size
of a Spanish caravelle. Famously, the Inka used foot-thick cables to
make suspension bridges across mountain gorges. w.o.nmcmo mE..owm
had no bridges without supports below, they initially terrified

B e
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Pizarro’s men. Later one conquistador reassured his countrymen th

they could walk across these Inka inventions “without endangerin
_&mam&%m.:

Andean textiles were woven with great precision—elite garmen
could have a thread count of five hundred per inch—and structuredi
claborate layers. Soldiers wore armor made from sculpted, quilte
cloth that was almost as effective at shielding the body as Europear
armor and much lighter. After trying it, the conquistadors ditche:
their steel breastplates and helmets wholesale and dressed like Inks
infantry when they fought.

Although Andean troops carried bows, javelins, maces, and clubs
their most fearsome weapon, the sling, was made of cloth. A sling is
woven pouch attached to two strings. The slinger puts a stone or slu
in the pouch, picks up the strings by the free ends, spins them around
a few times, and releases one of the strings at the proper moment

Expert users could hurl a stone, the Spanish adventurer Alonsg

Enriquez de Guzmdin wrote, “with such force that it will kill a
horse. .

- . T have seen a stone, thus hurled from a sling, break a sword
in two pieces when it was held in a man’s hand at a distance of thirty
paces.” (Experimenting with a five-foot-long, Andean-style sking and
an egg-sized rock from my garden, I was able, according to my rough
caleulation, to throw the stone at tnore than one hundred miles per
hour. My aim was terrible, though.)

In a frightening innovation, the Inka heated stones in cammpfires
until they were red hot, wrapped them in pitch-soaked cotton, and
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The conquistadors
disparaged steep Inka
highways because they
had been designed for
sure-footed llamas
rather than horses. But
they were beautifully
made—this road,
photographed in the
19905, had lasted more
than five hundred years
without maintenance.

hurled them at their targets. The cotton caught fire in midair. In a
sudden onslaught the sky would rain burning missiles. During a
counterattack in May 1536 an Inka army used these missiles to
Spanish-occupied Qosqo to the ground. Unable to step outside, the
conquistadors cowered in shelters beneath a relentless, weeks-long
barrage of flaming stone. Rather than evacuate, the Spanish, as brave
as they were greedy, fought to the end. In a desperate, last-ditch coun-
terattack, the Buropeans eked out victory.

More critical than steel to Pizarro’s success was the horse. The
biggest animal in the Andes during Inka times was the Hama, which
typically weighs three hundred pounds. Horses, four times as massive,
wete profoundly, terribly novel, Add to this the shock of observing
humans somehow astride their backs like half-bestial nightmare fig-
ures and it is possible to imagine the dismay provoked by Pizarro’s

burn

cavalry. Not only did Inka Emmdq%am.m have to overcome _&ﬂm E.MH&
stupefaction, their leaders had to reinvent their military tactics while
in the midst of an invasion. Mounted troops were able to move at
rates never encountered in Tawantinsuyu. “Even ﬁrmn the F&mﬂm
had posted pickets,” Hemming observed, “the Spanish cavalry MMG d
ride past them faster than the sentries could run back to warn of dan-
ger.” In clash after clash, “the dreaded horses proved ;.EEDEW. But
horses are not inherently unbeatable; the Inka simply .&Q not discover
ﬂEmﬁ% enough where they had an m%ms.ﬁmmﬂ on their nommm.. "y

European-style roads, constructed with horses and cars in mind,
view flatness as a virtue; to go up a steep hill, they use switchbacks to
make the route as horizontal as possible. Inka roads, by noH.E)mmﬁ. were
built for lamas. Llamas prefer the coolness of high altitudes and,
unlike horses, readily go up and down steps. As a result, Inka roads



g8 NUMBERS FrROM NowHErE?

eschewed valley bottoms and used long stone stairways to climb y
steep hills directly—brutal on horses’ ,

, Francisc
Pizarro’s younger brother Hernando Jamented that the route, a per

fectly good Inka highway, was “so bad” that the Spanish "“could not us
horses on the roads, not even with skill.” Instead the conquistado
had to dismount and lead their reluctant animals through the steps. At
that point they were vulnerable. Late in the day, Inka soldiers learne
to wait above and roll boulders on their foes, killing some of the ani
mals and frightening others into running away. Men left behind could
be picked off at leisure. Multiple ambushes cost the lives of many
Spanish troops and animals.

To be sure, horses confer an advantage on flat ground. But even on
the plains the Inka could have won. Foot soldiers have often drubbed -
mounted troops. At the battle of Marathon in 490 B.c., the outnum-
bered, outarmored Athenian infantry destroyed the cavalry of the -
Persian emperor Darius I. More than six thousand Persians died; the
Greeks lost fewer than two hundred men. So dire had the situation
initially appeared that before the fight Athens sent a messenger to
Sparta, its hated rival, to beg for aid. In the original marathon, the
courier ran more than a hundred miles in two days to deliver his mes-
sage. But by the time the Spartan reinforcements artived, there was
nothing to see but dead Persians.

The Inka losses were not foreordained. Their military was ham-
pered by the cult of personality around its deified generals, which
meant both that leaders were not easily replaced when they were
killed or captured and that innovation in the lower ranks was not
encouraged. And the army never learned to bunch its troops into

tight formations, as the Greeks did at Marathon, forming human
masses that can literally stand up to cavalry. Nonetheless, by the time
of the siege of Qosqo the Inka had developed an effective anti-cavalry
tactic: bolas. The Inka bola consisted of three stones tied to lengths of
llama tendon. Soldiers threw them, stones a-whirl, at charging horses,
The weapons wrapped themselves around the animals’ legs and
brought them down to be killed by volleys of sling missiles. Had the
bolas come in massed, coordinated onslaughts instead of being

wielded by individual soldiers as they thought opportune, Pizarro
might well have met his match. -
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1f not technology or the horse, what defeated the Inka? .bm I said,
some of the blame should be heaped on the overly nwbﬂmrwnm Inka
command structure, a problem that has plagued armies throughout
time. But another, much larger part of the answer was m.nmﬂ stated
firmly by Henry Dobyns. During his nﬁﬁnﬁim&mﬁ reading m_unw:ﬁ
Peru, he came across a passage by Pedro Cieza de Ledn, the mwm.m.ar
traveler who observed three roads between Hrm. same two cities.
Entranced by the first exhibition of Inka booty in Spain, Cieza ﬁ.wo
Leén had crossed the Atlantic as a teenager and spent fifteen years in
Peru, Bolivia, Ecuador, and Colombia, traveling, fighting, and taking
notes for what would become a massive, three-volume survey of the
region. Only the first part was printed in his E..mﬁwdm. but by the twen-
tieth century historians had found and wz_urmﬁwnm moast of the rest.
Dobyns learned something from Cieza de Ledn ﬂrmn. was not men-
tioried in Prescott’s history, in the Smithsonian’s official Ea.:m.wocw of
South American Indians, or in any of the then-standard descriptions of .
Tawantinsuyu. According to Cieza de Ledn, Wayna Qhapaq, >ﬁ.m-
wallpa’s father, died when “a great plague of mﬂmcwoum _u_.ow,.w out [in
1524 of 1525], s0 severe that more than 200,000 died of it, for it spread

arts of the kingdom.”

N mm%msmow not OH&W killed Wayna Qhapag, it kifled his mOD.mbn_ des-
ignated heir—and his brother, uncle, and sister-wife. The main mn.uan-
als and much of the officer corps died, wrote the Inka chronicler
Santacruz Pachacuti Yamqui Salcamayhua, “all their faces covered
with scabs.” So did the two regents left in Qosqo by Wayna Ovmwm& to
administer the empire. After the dying Wayna Qhapaq locked himself
away so that nobody could see his pustulous wm.nm. m&nmﬁmwwcm
reported, he was visited by a terrifying midnight vision. mmqoznm_um
him in his dream were “millions upon millions of men. Hv.m Inka
asked who they were. “Souls of the lost,” the multitade told him. All
of them “would die from the pestilence,” each and every one.

The story is probably apocryphal, but its import Hmb.n. mq.nmzwox
has an incubation period of about twelve days, during which time suf-
ferers, who may not know they are sick, can infect anyone 9@. meet.
With its fine roads and great population movements, ﬁmémsmsmsé
was perfectly positioned for a major epidemic. mﬂmzwox Hm&_mﬂm
throughout the empire like ink spreading through tissue paper. Mil-
lions of people simultaneously experienced its symptoms: high fever,
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vomiting, severe pain, oozing blisters everywhere on the body. Unable
to number the losses, the Jesuit Martin de Murta said only that the
toll was “infinite thousands.”

The smallpox virus is generally thought to have evolved from one
of two closely related viruses: camelpox virus, which as the name sug-
gests affects domestic camels, or taterapox virus, which is found in
Kemp’s gerbil, a West African rodent that is considered an agricultural
pest. (The virus’s name comes from the gerbil’s former scientific
name, Tatera kempi.) The idea is that about 15,000 years ago a chance
mutation let the virus “jump the species barrier,” as scientists say, and

infect human beings. Neither the camel nor the gerbil existed in the

Americas, so the disease never had a chance to exist there. In BEurope,
Asia, and Africa smallpox became a constant, terrible presence, infect-
ing almost every child, killing many and leaving others with the disfig-
uring pockmarks that are its tellrale sign. Survivors become immune
to the disease. Because most Buropeans contracted the disease in
childhood, the great majority of European adults, the conquistadors
among them, were immune, Indians, by contrast, had never been
exposed to it—they were, in a second bit of scientific jargon, “virgin
soil.”

Virgin-soil death rates for smallpox are hard to establish because
for the last century most potential research subjects have been vacei-
nated. But a study in the early 1960 of seven thousand unvaccinated
smallpox cases in southern India found that the disease killed 43 per-
cent of its victims, Noting the extreme vulnerability of Andean popu-
lations—they would not even have known to quaraniine victims, as
Europeans had-—Dobyns hypothesized that the empire’s population
“may well have been halved during this epidemic.” In about three
years, that is, as many as one out of two people in Tawantinsuyu died,

The human and social costs are beyond measure. Such overwhelm-
ing traumas tear at the bonds that hold cultures together. The epi-
demic that struck Athens in 430 B.C., Thucydides reported, enveloped
the city in “a great degree of lawlessness.” The people “became con-
temptuous of everything, both sacred and profane.” They joined
ecstatic cults and allowed sick refugees to desecrate the great temples,
where they died untended. A thousand years later the Black Death
shook Europe to its foundations. Martin Luther’s rebellion against
Rome was a grandson of the plague, as was modern anti-Semitism,
Landowners’ fields were emptied by death, forcing them either 1o
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work peasants harder or pay more to attract new labor. Both &..Homnmm.
led to social unrest; the Jacquerie (France, 1358), the Revolt of Qon.._?
(Florence, 1378), the Peasants’ Revolt (England, 1381), the Catalonian
Rebellion (Spain, 1395), and dozens of flare-upsin &m.@m_.,ams states. Is
itnecessary to spell out that societies mired in mHmEn&& nﬁm.om are vul-
nerable to conquest? To borrow a trope from the Ewnoﬁms. Alfred
Crosby, if Genghis Khan had arrived with the Black Death, this book
would not be written in a European language. .
As for Tawantinsuyu, smallpox wiped out Wayna Qhapag .m_Ea his
court, which led to civil war as the survivors contested the spoils. The
soldiers who died in the battle between Atawallpa and ém.&.%m.u were
as much victims of smallpox as those who died from the virus :nmmﬂ v
The ferocity of the civil war was exacerbated by ﬁr.m m@&nﬂ:n. s
impact on a peculiarly Andean institution: royal mummies. Huwowwm in
Andean societies viewed themselves as belonging to wm_..d&x lineages.
(Europeans did, too, but lineages were more important in .%.m E&.mw
the pop-cultural comparison might be The Lord of Hrm.?sm& in ¢.<Em
characters introduce themselves as “X, son of Y” or “A, of B’s line.”)
Royal lineages, called panaga, were special. Bach new emperor was
born in one panaga but created a new one when he tock H.rm fringe. To
the new panaga belonged the Inka and his wives and children, along
with his retainers and advisers. When the Inka died his panaga mum-
mified his body. Because the Inka was believed mo.ww an Eﬁdoﬁn&
deity, his mummy was treated, logically enough, as if _.n were still liv-
ing. Soon after arriving in Qosqo, Pizarro’s companion Miguel de
Estete saw a parade of defunct emperors. They were brought out on
litters, “seated on their thrones and surrounded by pages mbn_ women
with flywhisks in their hands, who ministered to them with as much
t as if they had been alive.”
mewﬂMnmcmmm %mm.oum; mummies were not considered dead, mrﬂu suc-
cessors obviously could not inherit their wealth. Each Inka’s panaga
retained all of his possessions forever, including his wm_mnnm“ resi-
dences, and shrines; all of his remaining clothes, eating utensils, fin-
gernail parings, and hair clippings; and the E@Em from .&m Hmnm he
had conquered. In consequence, as Pedro @Emﬂd. Hmmr.nmau the
greater part of the people, treasure, mﬁumnmmm.u and vices Tn..., Tawan-
tinsuyu] were under the control of the dead.” The mummies mw&,ﬁ
through female mediums who represented the panaga’s surviving
courtiers or their descendants. With abmost a dozen immortal emper-
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ors jostling for position, high-level Inka society was characterized by
ramose political intrigue of a scale that would have delighted the
Medici. Emblematically, Wayna Qhapaq could not construct his own

villa on Awkaypata--his undead ancestors had used up all the avail-

able space. Inka society had a serious mummy problem.

After smallpox wiped out much of the political elite, each panaqa
tried to move into the vacuum, stoking the passions of the civil war.
Different mummies at different times backed different claimants to

the Inka throme. After Atawallpa’s victory, his panaqa took the

mummy of Thupa Inka from its palace and burned it outside
Qosqo—burned it alive, so to speak. And later Atawallpa instructed
his men to seize the gold for his ransom as nuch as possible from the
possessions of another enemy panaga, that of Pachacuti’s mummy.
Washkar’s panaga kept the civil war going even after his death
(or, rather, nondeath). While Atawalipa was imprisoned, Washkar's
panaga sent one of his younger brothers, Thupa Wallpa, to Cajamarca.
In a surreptitious meeting with Pizarro, Thupa Wallpa proclaimed
that he was Washkar’s legitimate heir. Pizarro hid him in his own quar-
ters. Soon afterward, the lord of Cajamarca, who had backed Washkar
in the civil war, told the Spanish that Atawallpa’s army was on the

mave, tens of thousands strong. Its generals planned to attack Pizarro, .

he said, and free the emperor. Atawallpa denied the charge, truthfully.

Pizarro nonetheless ordered him to be bound. Some of the Spaniards’

most sympathetic to Atawallpa asked to investigate. Soon after they
left, two Inka ran to Pizarro, claiming that they had just fled from the
invading army. Pizarro hurriedly convoked a military tribunal, which
quickly sentenced the Inka to execution—the theory apparently being
that the approaching army would not attack if its leader were dead.
Too late the Spanish expedition came back to report that no Inka army
was on the move. Thupa Wallpa emerged from hiding and was
awarded the fringe as the new Inka.

The execution, according to John Rowe, the Berkeley archaeolo-
gist, was the result of a conspiracy among Pizarro, Thupa Wallpa, and
the lord of Cajamarca. By ridding himself of Atawallpa and taking on
Thupa Wallpa, Rowe argued, Pizarro “had exchanged an unwilling
hostage for a friend and ally.” In fact, Thupa Wallpa openly swore alle-
giance to Spain. To him, the oath was a small price to pay; by siding
with Pizarro, Washkar’s panaga, “which had lost everything, had a
chance again.” Apparently the new Inka hoped to return with Pizarro
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Although Andean societies have been bufleted by disease and mnono_._an
exploitation since the arrival of Buropeans, indigenous tradition
remained strong encugh that this chicha seller in Cuzco, photographed
by Martin Chambi in ro21, might have seemed unremarkable in the

days of the Inka.

to Qosqo, where he might be able to seize the wheel of state. After
that, perhaps, he could wipe out the Spaniards.

On the way to Qosqo, Pizarro met his first important resistance
near the river town of Hatun Xauxa, which had been overrun by
Atawallpa’s army during the civil war. The same force had returned
there to battle the Spanish. But the Inka army’s plan to burn down the
town and prevent the invaders from crossing the river was foiled by
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the native Xauxa and Wanka populace, which had long resented the
empire. Not only did they fight the Inka, they followed the old adage
about the enemy of my enemy being my friend and actually fur-
nished supplies to Pizarro.

After the battle Thupa Wallpa suddenly died—so suddenly that
many Spaniards believed he had been poisoned. The leading suspect
was Challcochima, one of Atawallpa’s generals, whom Pizarro had
captured at Cajamarca and brought along on his expedition to Qosgo.
Challcochima may not have murdered Thupa Wallpa, but he certainly
used the death to try to persuade Pizarro that the next Inka should be
one of Atawallpa’s sons, not anyone associated with Washkar. Mean-
while, Washkar’s panaga sent out yet another brother, Mango Inka,
He promised that if he were chosen to succeed Thupa Wallpa he
would swear the same oath of allegiance to Spain. In return, he asked
Pizarro to kill Challcochima. Pizarro agreed and the Spaniards pub-
licly burned Chailcochima to death in the main plaza of the next town
they came to. Then they rode toward Qosqo.

To Dobyns, the moral of this story was clear. The Inka, he wrote
in his 1963 article, were not defeated by steel and horses but by disease
and factionalism. In this he was echoing conclusions drawn centuries
before by Pedro Pizarro. Had Wayna Qhapaq “been alive when we
Spaniards entered this land,” the conquistador remarked, “it would
have been impossible for us to win it. . . . And likewise, had the land
not been divided by the [smallpox-induced civil] wars, we would not
have been able to enter or win the land.”

Pizarro’s words, Dobyns realized, applied beyond Tawantinsuyu,
He had studied demographic records in bath Peru and southern Ari-
zona. In both, as in New England, epidemic disease arrived before the
first successful colonists. When the Europeans actually arrived, the
battered, fragmented cultures could not unite to resist the incursion.
Instead one party, believing that it was about to lose the struggle for
dominance, allied with the invaders to improve its position. The
alliance was often successful, in that the party gained the desired
advantage. But its success was usually temporary and the culture asa
whole always lost, :

Between the sixteenth and eighteenth centuries, this pattern
occurred again and again in the Americas. It was a kind of master nar-
rative of postcontact history. In fact, Buropeans routinely lost when
they could not take advantage of disease and political fragmentation.

In the Land of Four Quarters 105

Conquistadors tried to take Florida half a dozen times between 1510
and s60—and failed each time. In 1532 King Jodo 1II of Portugal
divided the coast of Brazil into fourteen provinces and dispatched
colonists to each one. By 1550 only two settlements survived. The
French were barely able to sustain trading posts in the St, Lawrence
and didn’t even try to plant their flag in pre-epidemic New mamwmwm‘
Buropean microorganisms were slow to penetrate the Yucatéan Penin-
sula, where most of the Maya polities were too small to readily play
off against each other. In consequence, Spain never fully mﬁ_u.mﬁn.& the
Maya. The Zapatista rebellion that convulsed southern gnﬁno. in the
1990s was merely the most recent battle in an episodic colonial war
that began in the sixteenth century. |

All of this was important, the stuff of historians™ arguments and
doctoral dissertations, but Dobyns was thinking of something else. If
Pizarro had been amazed by the size of Tawantinsuyu after the terri-
ble epidemic and war, how many people had been living there to
begin with? Beyond that, what was the population of the Western
Hemisphere in 14017

AN ARITHMETICAL PROGRESSION

Wayna Qhapaq died in the first smallpox epidemic. The virus struck

Tawantinsuyu again in 1533, 1535, 1558, and 1565. Each time the conse-
quences were beyond the imagination of our fortunate age. “They
died by scores and hundreds,” recalled one eyewitness to the 1565
outbreak. “Villages were depopulated. Corpses were scattered over
the fields or piled up in the houses or huts. . . . The fields were uncul-
tivated; the herds were untended [and] the price of food rose to such
an extent that many persons found it beyond their reach. They
escaped the foul disease, but only to be wasted by famine.” In addi-
tion, Tawantinsuyu was invaded by other BEuropean pestilences, to
which the Indians were equally susceptible. Typhus (probably) in
1546, influenza in 1558 (together with smallpox), diphtheria in 1614,
measles in 1618—all flensed the remains of Inka culture. Taken as a
whole, Dobyns thought, the epidemics must have killed nine out of
ten of the inhabitants of Tawantinsuyu.

Dobyns was not the first to arrive at this horrific conclusion. But he
was the first modern researcher to put it together with the fact that
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results obtained by this procedure were, by historical standards, stun-
ningly high. ,

Historians had long wondered how many Indians lived in the
Americas before contact. “Debated since Columbus attempted a par-
tial census at Hispaniola in 1496,” Denevan, the Beni geographer, has
written, “it remains one of the great inquiries of history.” Early
researchers” figures were, to put it mildly, informally ascertained.
“Most of them weren't even ballpark calculations,” Denevan told me.
“No ballpark was involved.” Only in 1928 did the first careful estimate
of the indigenous population appear. James Mooney, a distinguished
ethnographer at the Smithsonian Institution, combed through colo-
nial writings and government documents to conclude that in 1491
North America had 1.15 million inhabitants. Alfred L. Kroeber, the
renowned Berkeley anthropologist, built upon Mooney’s work in the
19308. Kroeber cut back the tally still further, to 9oo,000—a population
density of less than one person for every six square miles. Just 8.4 mil-
tion Indians, Kroeber suggested, had lived in the entire hemisphere.

Recognizing that his continent-wide estimate did not account for
regional variation, Kroeber encouraged future scholars to seek out
and analyze “sharply localized documentary evidence.” As he knew,
some of his Berkeley colleagues were already making those analyses.
Geographer Carl Sauer published the first modern estimate of north-
west Mexico’s pre-Columbian population in 1935. Meanwhile, physiol-
ogist Sherburne E. Cook investigated the consequences of disease in
the same area. Cook joined forces with Woodrow W. Borah, a Berke-
ley historian, in the mid-1950s. In a series of publications that
stretched to the 1970s, the two men combed through colonial finan-
cial, census, and land records. Their results made Kroeber uneasy.
When Columbus landed, Cook and Borah concluded, the central
Mexican plateau alone had a population of 25.2 million. By contrast,
Spain and Portugal together had fewer than ten million inhabitants.
Central Mexico, they said, was the most densely populated place on
earth, with more than twice as many people per square mile than
China or India. :

“Historians and anthropologists did not, however, seem to be pay-
ing much attention” to Cook and Borah, Dobyns wrote. Years later,
his work, coupled with that of Denevan, Crosby, and William H.
McNeill, finally made them take notice. Based on their work and his
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own, Dobyns argued that the Indian population in 1491 was between

90 and 112 million people. Another way of saying this is that when.

Columbus sailed more people lived in the Americas than in Burope,

According to a 1999 estimate from the United Nations, the earth’s

population in the beginning of the sixteenth century was about 500
million. If Dobyns was right, disease claimed the lives of 80 to 100 mil-

lion Indians by the first third of the seventeenth century. All these

numbers are at best rough approximations, but their implications are
clear: the epidemics killed about one out of every five people on
earth. According to W, George Lovell, a geographer at Queen’s Uni-
vetsity in Ontario, it was “the greatest destruction of lives in human
history.”

Dobyns published his conclusions in the journal Current Anthropoi-
ogy in 1966. They spawned rebuttals, conferences, even entire books,
(Denevan assembled one: The Native Population of the Americas in 1492.)
“Talways felt guilty about the impact of my Current Anthropology arti-
cle,” Dobyns told me, “because I thought and still think that Cook and
Borah and Sauer had all said this in print earlier, but people weren’t lis-
tening. 'm still puzzled by the reaction, to tell you the tryth. Maybe it
was the time—people were prepared to listen in the 1960s.”

Listen—and artack. Dobyns’s population projections were quickly
seen by some as politically motivated—self-flagellation by guilty
white liberals or, worse, a push to inflate the toll of imperialism from
the hate-America crowd. “No question about it, some people want
those higher numbers,” Shepard Krech HI, an anthropologist at
Brown, told me. These people, he said, were thrilled when Dobyns
revisited the subject in a 1983 book, Their Number Become Thinned, and
revised his estimates upward.

Few researchers today accept Dobyns's estimates—they seem
extreme—but most believe that native numbers were far higher than
estimated by previous generations, Most, but not all. Vehemently
arguing against Dobyns, Denevan, Crosby, Cook, and Borah was
David Henige, of the University of Wisconsin, whose book, Numbers
from Nowhere, published in 1998, is a landmark in the literature of
demographic vilification. “Suspect in 1966, it is no less suspect nowa-
days,” Henige charged of Dobyns’s work, “If anything, it is worse.”
Henige stumbled across a seminar on Indian demography taught
by Denevan in 1976, An “epiphanic moment” occurred when he read
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that Cook and Borah had “uncovered” the existence of eight million
people in Hispaniola. Can you just invent millions of people? he won-
dered. “We ¢an make of the historical record H.rmﬁ m.ﬁnn was depopu-
lation and movement of people from internecine warfare and
diseases,” he said to me. “But as for how much, who _a.ﬂoﬁa...h When
we start putting numbers to something like nrmﬂ|mmv€5m large fig-.
ures like o5 percent—we’re saying things we &.HOEMF t say. The num-
ber implies a level of knowledge that’s impossible. .

Indian activists reject this logic. “You always rmw:. éw:m.wnov_m try-
ing to minimize the size of the aboriginal populations their ancestors
personally displaced,” according to Lenore mﬂmnm_ma_ an mﬂ_.En.u_om;ﬁ a
the University of Saskatchewan. Dismissing .ﬁr.m impact of .&mmmmmu Hwb
her view, is simply a way to reduce the original mowcmm.ﬂos Om. t] M
Americas. “Oh, there used to be a few people there, and disease kille d
some of them, so by the time we got here they were &B.om.ﬁ alt gone.
The smaller the numbers of Indians, she said, the easier it is to regard
the continent as empty, and hence up for grabs. “It’s wmwmmna% mnnmmﬁ.
able to move into unoccupied land,” Stiffarm told me. “And land with

‘savages’ is the next best thing.” /
oEMwaMMImEMm wrote Numbers from Nowhere, the mmvm about ?,mw
Columbian population - had already consumed mo._.mma worth o
trees—his bibliography is ninety pages long. _.mosﬂ amnm.&mm after
Dobyns’s article appeared, his colleagues “are mm: mﬁﬁmmrbm to get
out of the crater that paper left in anthropology,” according to gm.Bmm
Wilson, author of Their Earth Shall Weep, a history of ZoH.Q.H America’s
indigenous peoples after conquest. The &mwcﬁ.n mr.oﬁa no sign of ,M.Umﬂ.
ing. This is partly because of the inherent fascination with .ﬁ?w s w_n ect.
But it is also due to the growing realization of how much is at stake,
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